FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/19/2021 4:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100102-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID O'DEA,

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF TACOMA, a municipal subdivision of the State of Washington; and the TACOMA POLICE DEPARTMENT, an agency of the City of Tacoma,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS No. 54240-4-II

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brett A. Purtzer WSB # 17283

HESTER LAW GROUP, INC., P.S. Attorneys for Petitioner 1008 South Yakima Avenue, Suite 302 Tacoma, Washington 98405 (253) 272-2157

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

David O'Dea, petitioner, respectfully requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in case number 54240-4-II terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lt. O'Dea respectfully requests that this Court review the Court of Appeals decision, affirming the trial court's decision in this case. The Court of Appeals' decision ratified the Tacoma Police Department's use of 20/20 hindsight in determining that Lt. O'Dea violated the Department's use of force policy. Further, even though the Court of Appeals acknowledged the existence of a wrongful discharge claim in violation of public policy, the court determined that Lt. O'Dea could not establish all causation elements to support such claim even though Lt. O'Dea was terminated for preserving a human life.

Respectfully, the Court of Appeals erred in its decision, and this court should accept review.

A copy of the decision from the Court of Appeals, Division II, terminating review which was filed on May 18, 2021 is attached as Exhibit "A".

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's decision when Lt. O'Dea's discharge violated public policy and Lt.

O'Dea's action furthered the public policy of protecting human life by not targeting the source of the deadly threat he faced.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On May 11, 2018, appellant Lt. O'Dea filed a complaint for damages against the City of Tacoma and the Tacoma Police Department (hereafter TPD) for wrongful termination, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, and defamation. CP 1-40. On September 5, 2019, defendants filed a motion for summary judgment, with supporting materials. CP 43-64, 65-139, 140-214. Lt. O'Dea filed a response and supporting materials on October 2, 2019. CP 215-239, 240-515. Plaintiff filed errata on October 3, 2019. CP 516-518. Defendants filed a reply on October 14, 2019. CP 519-530, 531-631, 632-635. On October 18, 2019, Pierce County Superior Court entered an order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment, dismissing all of Lt. O'Dea's claims against the City of Tacoma and TPD. CP 636-638. Lt. O'Dea filed a notice of appeal on October 24, 2019. CP 639-644. On May 18, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Lt. O'Dea's claim. A motion for reconsideration was filed on June 7, 2021. The Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration on July 20, 2021. This petition follows.

**

**

B. Facts

On August 6, 2016, Lt. O'Dea was working patrol as a Police Lieutenant and Shift Commander for TPD when he heard Officer Huebner's initial call requesting an additional unit and a supervisor in the south end of the city. CP 242, 251.

Officer Huebner had been dispatched to a reported traffic accident. As Lt. O'Dea continued to the police station to complete his administrative task, he heard Officer Huebner's second call for a supervisor and ETA from that call. Lt. O'Dea responded. CP 242-43, 252.

When Lt. O'Dea arrived at the scene, he observed Officers Huebner, Waddell and Koskovich present, standing by a maroon Nissan. Officers Koskovich and Waddell were standing on either side of the Nissan with their handguns drawn at the low ready position focused on the occupant. The Nissan was running and was occupied by a single person, Jose Mendoza Davalos, who was sitting in the driver's seat. Lt. O'Dea noted that Mendoza Davalos had a hoodie pulled up over his head despite the warm weather, and he was slouched down in the driver's seat. Officer Huebner was standing behind a patrol car that was parked behind the Nissan. The patrol car was running and its emergency lights were operating. CP 243, 253-54.

When Lt. O'Dea spoke to Officer Huebner, Officer Huebner explained that he was dispatched to the location for a report of a traffic accident, after which Officer Huebner determined the event was a road rage incident involving Mendoza Davalos, who Officer Huebner deemed the aggressor. Officer Huebner

allowed the other involved driver to leave due to Mendoza Davalos' erratic behavior. CP 243, 253-54.

Officer Huebner said that while he was trying to discuss the traffic incident with Mendoza Davalos, Mendoza Davalos was not cooperative. After interacting with Mendoza Davalos, Mendoza Davalos began to leave the parking lot in his vehicle with Officer Huebner following. Rather than leave the parking lot, however, Mendoza Davalos looked into his rearview mirror, smiled and put his car in reverse and rammed Officer Huebner's patrol vehicle. CP 243, 255.

While receiving Officer Huebner's briefing, Lt. O'Dea could hear and see Officers Waddell and Koskovich providing verbal commands to Mendoza Davalos to turn off the car, show his hands, and exit the vehicle. Officer Waddell advised that Mendoza Davalos was reaching around inside of the Nissan as if he was looking for a weapon. The inside of the vehicle had not been searched. CP 244, 256, 310-11.

While officers were standing at the low ready over the vehicle, Mendoza Davalos called 911. The 911 dispatcher conferenced a Spanish interpreter into Mendoza Davalos' 911 call. Through the interpreter, the 911 dispatcher asked Mendoza Davalos if he had a gun, but he did not answer. Mendoza Davalos told the dispatcher that the officers should put their guns down or he would run over them. CP 311, 314.

While the 911 dispatcher was talking to Mendoza Davalos on the phone, Lt. O'Dea advised Dispatch to have Tacoma Fire respond and stage in the event their assistance was needed. He did this for several reasons:

- 1) Mendoza Davalos was refusing to exit the vehicle; if force was used, he might be injured;
- 2) to administer aid in case any officers were injured as well as making sure Officer Huebner was not injured; and
- 3) Mendoza Davalos's actions were not rational, and Lt. O'Dea felt that Mendoza Davalos might be suffering some sort of mental health crisis, suffering from the effects of drugs, or experiencing some kind of health crisis.

CP 244, 257-58.

While dispatch was relaying the information about Mendoza Davalos, Lt. O'Dea directed Officer Huebner to move his patrol car closer to the Nissan to better pin it against the concrete parking curb in front. Suddenly, Mendoza Davalos' vehicle surged over the concrete curb it was against. Out of his peripheral vision, Lt. O'Dea saw Officer Waddell, who was standing at the left front fender of Mendoza Davalos' vehicle, violently move backward as if he had been struck by the vehicle. CP 245, 262-63.

As Lt. O'Dea moved, Mendoza Davalos accelerated and backed his vehicle over the curb and into the vehicle parked to its immediate left with such force that it pushed the vehicle entirely out of the parking space and into the vehicle next to it, partially pushing that vehicle out of its parking space. Lt. O'Dea believed that Mendoza Davalos was going to continue to force his way out of the parking lot while he was backing up, and Lt. O'Dea continued to try to stay to the north and out of the vehicle's path. Lt. O'Dea observed Officer Koskovich, with what appeared to be a flashlight in his hand, break out the Nissan's front passenger window as it was accelerating forward. The Nissan then stopped, pulled forward, and made a tight right turn. Lt. O'Dea could see the front wheels of the

Nissan turn sharply to the right, and he now believed that Mendoza Davalos was going to continue to make the right turn and exit the parking lot through the only entrance/exit to the south. CP 245, 266-269.

As Lt. O'Dea continued to move out of the vehicle's path the Nissan continued to accelerate forward in a tight right-hand turn. As Lt. O'Dea now moved laterally through the parking lot, he noted that the Nissan was now making a left-hand turn, travelling and accelerating directly toward him. Lt. O'Dea believed Mendoza Davalos was trying to run him over as there was no entrance/exit to the north. Lt. O'Dea also feared that Mendoza Davalos might have already seriously injured Officer Waddell as Lt. O'Dea could no longer see him. CP 245, CP 266-69.

When the vehicle was about 5 to 7 feet in front of him and was continuing to accelerate, Lt. O'Dea drew his department issued handgun. Lt. O'Dea clearly recalled being center mass of the vehicle, with headlights equidistant apart and the engine revving. Lt. O'Dea feared for his life and believed that Mendoza Davalos was going to use the Nissan to intentionally kill him. As the Nissan continued to accelerate toward Lt. O'Dea, he raised his handgun from low ready position to a firing position. CP 246, 269-71.

Lt. O'Dea did not have a clear sight-line of Mendoza Davalos as he was sitting low in the Nissan, and was short in stature. Lt. O'Dea also knew that other officers were on scene, and while none were in his direct line of sight, Lt. O'Dea was unsure exactly where they were if he was to fire through the windshield at Mendoza Davalos, thus risk striking the other officers present. Applying the

OODA loop principles taught by TPD, Lt. O'Dea determined his best option would be to shoot at the vehicle and get inside of Mendoza Davalos's OODA loop, allowing Lt. O'Dea enough time to reach the vehicles parked to his right. CP 246, 269-71, 335-36.

As the Nissan continued to close the distance, Lt. O'Dea continued to laterally move away. Everything was happening simultaneously. Lt. O'Dea cleared his backdrop for the angle of his shooting. During the process of electing to shoot, Lt. O'Dea considered that Mendoza Davalos may have mental health issues, given his behavior, and that his primary duty as a police officer is to preserve life. As the vehicle rapidly approached at approximately 15-20 miles per hour, Lt. O'Dea began firing while moving laterally and rotating his body to keep a clear sight line while the Nissan continued to accelerate toward him. Lt. O'Dea continued to move and fire until the Nissan's front left tire went flat and it began to veer its wheels to the right in an effort to escape the rounds being fired, and the vehicle and Mendoza Davalos were no longer a deadly threat. Lt. O'Dea barely escaped being struck by the vehicle. The vehicle was close enough to him that he could have reached out and touched it with his hand. CP 246-47. It was a life-threatening situation. CP 380-81.

Mendoza Davalos was taken into custody, safely, a few moments later.

The time from when Mendoza Davalos accelerated toward Lt. O'Dea and when

Lt. O'Dea fired "[t]he shots from start to finish were – within 2 seconds of
themselves." CP 246, 270, 279, 338, 340-41.

The other police officers involved, Officers Huebner, Waddell and Koskovich, prepared incident reports regarding this event. Officer Huebner confirmed that Mendoza Davalos threatened to run them over, that Lt. O'Dea was in danger of being struck by Mendoza Davalos' vehicle, and that Lt. O'Dea fired in the direction of the vehicle as it rapidly approached him. CP 351, 353-54, 368.

Significantly, Officer Waddell reported as follows:

Waddell: And I wasn't exactly sure where the Lieutenant was. I just know he was right in between that Ford Escape and, and the suspect vehicle. So, I mean it could have easily been

Reopelle: The Lieutenant was pinned between the suspect's vehicle and that Escape?

Waddell: Right.

Reopelle: Okay.

Waddell: There was and the, the gap was closing quickly cause he was accelerating.

Reopelle: Okay. So how far do you think that car was away from the Lieutenant when it started to make its right hand turn?

Waddell: Uh, feet, maybe three, four feet, maybe five, somewhere in that area.

Reopelle: So, that's pretty close.

Waddell: Very, very, very close. It was very close quarters.

Reopelle: Okay. And so then when are the shots fired in relation to that?

Waddell: Basically, as the vehicle, if this would be the Lieutenant, the car is going this direction, right as the car about gets here as I'm, I'm running this direction, is right when I start hearing the shots and the car is kinda just brushing by him while the sho, while the shots were happening right in this, right in that spectrum of time.

Reopelle: Okay. And so, correct me if I get this wrong, okay, cause I want this to be your words but I'm watching you draw this here. So, you're kinda drawing that the Lieutenant starts shooting when the, when the,

when the vehicle is slightly in front of him but then the car passes him and he continues shooting.

Waddell: It's pretty simultaneous and quickly but he stopped shooting right as basically the front half of the vehicle had passed him. That's about when the string of shots happened is when right, he had about a couple feet before the car was gonna hit him. And then he, it appeared that's when he started shooting and then right when the car was passed him only, only like a couple feet and this is happening instantaneously that's when the shots kinda stopped.

CP 381 (emphasis added).

Mendoza Davalos entered a guilty plea to assault in the third degree and malicious mischief in the third degree. In his guilty plea, he admitted trying to assault Lt. O'Dea with his vehicle. CP 385-403.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Lt. O'Dea respectfully requests that this Court accept review of this case as it involves law enforcement's use of deadly force, which is a timely issue and an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. <u>LT. O'DEA'S TERMINATION VIOLATED PUBLIC POLICY</u> THAT FAVORS THE PROTECTION OF HUMAN LIFE.

1. Use of Force Cannot Be Judged With 20/20 Hindsight.

An officer's use of force is measured under an objective reasonableness standard, in light of the totality of the circumstances. <u>Graham v. Connor</u>, 490 U.S. 386, 396, 109 S.Ct. 1865, 104 L.Ed.2d 443 (1989). <u>See also Tennessee v. Garner</u>, 471 U.S. 1, 8-9, 105 S.Ct. 1694, 85 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985).

Because "[t]he test of reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment is not capable of precise definition or mechanical application," however, its proper application requires careful attention to the facts and circumstances of each particular case, including the severity of the crime at issue,

whether the suspect poses an immediate threat to the safety of the officers or others, and whether he is actively resisting arrest or attempting to evade arrest by flight.

(internal citations omitted) Graham, 490 U.S. at 396.

In applying this standard, courts have repeatedly admonished that "[t]he 'reasonableness' of a particular use of force must be judged from the perspective of a reasonable officer on the scene, rather than with the 20/20 vision of hindsight." Id. (emphasis added) "The calculus of reasonableness must embody allowance for the fact that police officers are often forced to make split second judgments in circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving - about the amount of force that is necessary in a particular situation." Id. at 396-97.

Officers are not required to use the least intrusive means when responding to exigent circumstances; they only need act within the range of reasonable conduct. Scott v. Henrich, 39 F.3d 912,915 (9th Cir. 1994).

Use of deadly force is reasonable where an officer has probable cause to believe the suspect poses a threat of death or serious physical harm to the officer or others. Garner, 471 U.S. at 11.

Here, Lt. O'Dea testified that Mendoza Davalos posed a threat of death or serious bodily injury to him as Mendoza Davalos' vehicle accelerated toward him and that the events were rapidly occurring. Lt. O'Dea's beliefs were consistent with the officers who witnessed the event and who also believed that Mendoza Davalos' actions posed a threat of death or serious bodily injury to Lt. O'Dea. CP 368, 422, 426, 441, 444-45. Given that all officers present acknowledged that

Lt. O'Dea faced a life or death situation, his actions in defending himself per Graham supra, cannot be judged with 20/20 hindsight.

2. Tacoma Police Department's Use of Force Policy Respects the Value of All Human Life.

TPD's Use of Force Policy grants officers discretion in determining what level of force is necessary when addressing any given situation. CP 457-67. The Use of Force Policy does not establish "absolutes" as to what level of force must be used to address a threat.

Significantly, TPD's use of deadly force is permissive, not mandatory, when an officer is faced with an imminent threat of death or serious bodily injury. If a reasonable alternative to the use of deadly force exists, an officer may choose such alternative, and his actions will still be within Policy and cannot be judged with 20/20 hindsight.

TPD defines the reasonable officer standard consistent with the reasonableness standards set forth in <u>Graham</u>, <u>supra</u>. CP 458. Further, TPD defines the principles of deadly force application as follows:

B) Principles of Deadly Force Application

The Tacoma Police Department recognizes and respects the value of all human life. Procedures and training are designed to resolve confrontations prior to escalation to the point *deadly force* may be applied. During the performance of their duties and as a last resort, Officers may apply *deadly force* when confronted with an *imminent danger* of death or *serious bodily injury* to protect themselves or others.

CP 465.

In applying the appropriate Use of Force, the Policy states as follows:

Risk is assessed objectively based on the on-scene *reasonable Officer's* perspective taking into account the facts and circumstances of the

particular situation that are known to the Officer. Due to the fact that Officer-citizen confrontations occur in environments that are potentially unpredictable and are tense, uncertain and rapidly evolving, **Officers may use** *tools* and *tactics* outside the parameters of departmental training.

Lt. O'Dea received firearm training from TPD and from the Navy.

Significantly, part of Lt. O'Dea's TPD training involved the Observe, Orient,

Decide, Act (OODA) loop principles which were succinctly explained by former

TPD Range Sergeant, James Barrett. CP 472-478. In essence, it involves the

officer's ability to observe and react to a situation. Id.

Importantly, Sgt. Barrett recognized that TPD's Use of Force Policy authorizes an officer, who is faced with the potential of death or serious bodily injury, to consider tactics that are outside of training provided by TPD. CP 469-472.

Lt. O'Dea used all of his training when defending himself against

Mendoza Davalos' life-threatening attack. Lt. O'Dea determined that he did not
need to target or "eliminate" the threat facing him in order to save himself and

Mendoza Davalos. Nowhere within TPD's Policy does it require an officer to
target or eliminate the threat. In fact, the Policy expressly allows officers to "use
tools and tactics outside the parameters of departmental training" when
responding to a situation. Lt. O'Dea used a tactic outside the parameters of his
training, successfully spared a life in the process, yet he was terminated. Nothing
is more patently offensive.

**

**

3. Public Policy Values Human Life.

This Court previously held that "[s]ociety places the highest priority on the protection of human life. This fundamental public policy is clearly evidenced by countless statutes and judicial decisions." <u>Gardner v. Loomis Armored Inc.</u>, 128 Wn.2d 931, 944, 913 P.2d 377 (1966).

Loomis' "fundamental" company rule forbid armored truck drivers from leaving their trucks unattended, and the employee handbook stated that violation of this rule would be grounds for termination. Gardner, 128 Wn.2d at 934-35.

Mr. Gardner was fired for violating this rule by exiting his truck during an incident wherein he sought to protect another individual.

In <u>Gardner</u>, this court noted that "employees may not be discharged for reasons that contravene public policy," <u>Id.</u> at 935, and adopted four elements of a public policy tort case. <u>Id.</u> at 941.

4. Lt. O'Dea's Termination Violates <u>Gardner</u> Which Recognized a Wrongful Termination Claim in Violation of Public Policy.

The Court of Appeals' decision acknowledged that protecting human life is a clear mandate of public policy and that Lt. O'Dea satisfied the clarity element of the Gardner test. Additionally, the Court of Appeals noted as follows,

The purpose of the jeopardy element is to ensure that "an employer's personnel management decisions will not be challenged unless a public policy is *genuinely* threatened." Gardner, 128 Wn.2d at 941-42 (emphasis added). To satisfy the jeopardy element, O'Dea must show that his "conduct *directly relate[d]* to the public policy, or was *necessary* for the effective enforcement of the public policy." <u>Id.</u> at 945. "Additionally, [O'Dea] must show how the threat of dismissal will discourage others from engaging in the desirable conduct." <u>Id.</u>

The Court of Appeals held that Lt. O'Dea could not establish the jeopardy or causation elements because Lt. O'Dea could not establish that his termination was not based on his decision not to shoot Mendoza Davalos. Rather, the Court of Appeals stated as follows with respect to why the City terminated Lt. O'Dea:

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