# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/22/2021 12:55 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100102-9

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DAVID O'DEA,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF TACOMA

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM C. FOSBRE, City Attorney

JEAN P. HOMAN
WSB# 27084
Attorney for Defendant/Respondent
Tacoma City Attorney's Office
747 Market Street, Suite 1120
Tacoma, Washington 98402
(253) 591-5885

# **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. <u>Division II correctly determined that Plaintiff failed to establish all essential elements of his wrongful discharge claim, and therefore, summary judgment was appropriate.</u>

Appellate review of a summary judgment determination is *de novo*. Ellis v. City of Seattle, 142 Wn.2d 450, 458, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000). Thus, "the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Trimble v. Washington</u> State Univ., 140 Wn.2d 88, 92-93, 993 P.2d 259 (2000)).

A defendant moving for summary judgment can meet its burden by showing that there is an "absence of evidence to support the [plaintiff's] case." Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 255 n.1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)(quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)). After the defendant makes the required showing, "the inquiry shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial, the plaintiff." Young, 112 Wn.2d at 255.

If, at this point, the plaintiff "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an

element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial," then the trial court should grant the motion. ... "In such a situation, there can be 'no genuine issue as to any material fact,' since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial."

(emphasis added) Hiatt v. Walker Chevrolet, 120 Wn.2d 57, 66, 837 P.2d 618 (1992)(quoting Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 Wn.2d at 225, which, in turn, quoted Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, supra). Consequently, the plaintiff "must do more than express an opinion or make conclusory statements"; the plaintiff must set forth specific and material facts to support each element of his prima facie case. Id. Because O'Dea did not set forth specific, material facts to establish either the causation element or the absence of justification element of his prima facie case, summary judgment was appropriate and Division II did not err in so holding.

In order to establish his common law claim of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, the Plaintiff was required

to establish the following elements: (1) the existence of a clear public policy (the clarity element); (2) that discouraging the conduct in which the plaintiff engaged would jeopardize the public policy (the jeopardy element); (3) that the policy-linked conduct caused the dismissal (the causation element); and (4) that the defendant cannot offer an overriding justification for the dismissal (the absence of justification element). Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 936, 913 P.2d 377 (1996). See also Martin v. Gonzaga Univ., 191 Wn.2d 712, 725-28, 425 P.3d 837 (2018) (plaintiff must not only show the

Generally, wrongful discharge in violation of public policy has been limited to four scenarios (1) where an employee is fired for refusing to commit an illegal act; (2) where an employee is fired for performing a public duty or obligation such as jury duty; (3) where an employee is fired for exercising a legal right or privilege such as filing a works compensation claim; and (4) where an employee is fired in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct, i.e. whistleblowing. Dicomes v. State, 113 Wn.2d 612, 782 P.2d 1002 (1989). The four factor framework adopted in Gardner, *supra*, is used where a case does not fit neatly into one of these four scenarios, like the case herein. See e.g., Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co., 184 Wn.2d 268, 277-78, 287, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015).

employee's discharge may have been motivated by reasons that contravene a clear mandate of public policy, but that the public-policy-linked conduct was a significant factor in the decision to discharge the worker; moreover, a burden-shifting procedure applies under which the employer may defeat the claim by proving that the termination was justified by an overriding justification).

In the instant case, Division II found that O'Dea had failed to adduce evidence to establish the causation element of his prima facie case:

O'Dea's decision not to shoot at Mendoza Davalos was not the basis for O'Dea's termination. In briefing and in oral argument, O'Dea argued that he was terminated because he "chose not to shoot at or 'target' Mendoza Davalos when his actions threatened Lt. O'Dea's life." Br. of Appellant at 16. But O'Dea was not terminated because he chose to shoot at the tires, rather than shoot at Mendoza Davalos. Chief Ramsdell clearly stated that the Department terminated O'Dea because he chose to discharge his firearm at all, and O'Dea has not presented evidence to the contrary.

To satisfy the causation element, O'Dea "must prove that the public-policy-linked conduct caused the dismissal." *Gardner*, 128 Wn.2d at 941. O'Dea need not prove that this was the sole cause of his dismissal, but he must prove that it was a cause. *Wilmot v. Kaiser Alum. & Chem. Corp.*, 118 Wn.2d 46, 70, 821 P.2d 18 (1991).

Ramsdell was explicit that he did *not* terminate O'Dea because O'Dea decided not to shoot at Mendoza Davalos. In Ramsdell's sworn affidavit, he stated, "I terminated Mr. O'Dea's employment because he violated the Tacoma Police Department use of force policy by using deadly force when it was not necessary or reasonable." CP at 141. Ramsdell concluded that O'Dea's use of force was not necessary or reasonable because O'Dea fired his weapon when the car was already passing him. He continued, "I terminated Mr. O'Dea from his position with [the Department] because Mr. O'Dea never should have fired his weapon under the circumstances." Id.

. . .

In addition, Ramsdell stated that "[a]nother factor in [his] decision to terminate Mr. O'Dea's employment was a reoccurring pattern of poor judgment." CP at 142. Ramsdell considered O'Dea's 2015 vehicle pursuit, which resulted in injuries to multiple people, and he noted that O'Dea never took full responsibility for his actions in that incident. Ramsdell concluded, "I have no reasonable basis to believe that [O'Dea] will not continue to exercise extremely poor judgment and engage in dangerous behavior, which ultimately puts the public and other officers at risk." *Id*.

There is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the cause of O'Dea's termination. The Department terminated O'Dea because it disapproved of his use of force. Ramsdell relied on the investigation conducted by Internal Affairs and concluded that when O'Dea fired his weapon, it was not reasonable or necessary. He also expressed concern that O'Dea had repeatedly violated Department policies and endangered others.

(emphasis added in last paragraph) O'Dea v. City of Tacoma, No. 54240-4-II, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS at \*24-27.

Thus, although O'Dea claims that he was terminated because he did not shoot the driver of the vehicle, all of the evidence in the record is to the contrary. As plainly stated by Chief Ramsdell, O'Dea was terminated for using deadly force when he should not have and for repeatedly violating Department policy and thereby endangering the public. Because O'Dea adduced no evidence that conduct linked to the public policy in question was a basis for his termination, his wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim failed, as a matter of law.

Moreover, although Division II found it unnecessary to reach the issue, the O'Dea court also noted that Plaintiff had also failed to adduce evidence to show that the City's justification for his termination was pretextual. O'Dea, No. 54240-4-II, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS at \*28, n.8. Plaintiff's failure to establish that there was no overriding justification for his termination is also fatal to his claim and is another basis upon which summary judgment can be affirmed. Martin v. Gonzaga Univ., 191 Wn.2d at 725-729.

"The overriding justification element entails balancing the public issues raised by the plaintiff against the employer's interest." <u>Id.</u> at 728. While "[t]he decision not to shoot at another person directly relates to the public policy of protecting human life", O'Dea, No. 54240-4-II, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS at \*24, so does a police department's vigorous enforcement of the limits on its officers' use of deadly force. It is unfathomable that in today's society, a law enforcement agency could not terminate a police officer who inappropriately uses deadly force without

violating public policy. Having the ability to terminate an officer for violating the well-defined and long established standards governing the use of deadly force—in other words, holding law enforcement officers strictly accountable when they use deadly force that is unreasonable, unnecessary and contrary to prevailing best practices—is critical for any law enforcement agency. Moreover, the City's ability to hold its officers strictly accountable for a wrongful use of deadly force only serves, not jeopardizes, Washington's policy interests in protecting human life.

Based on the uncontroverted record, there is no question that Plaintiff did not adduce evidence sufficient to establish all of the essential elements of his *prima facie* case of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy<sup>2</sup>. Thus, it is clear that Division II did not err in affirming summary judgment.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although Division II also exercised its discretion and address the summary dismissal of Plaintiff's claims of negligent infliction of emotional distress and outrage, Plaintiff did not include the dismissal of those claims in his Petition for Review

B. The instant case does not present an issue of broad public application sufficient to establish an issue of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In his Petition for Review, Plaintiff cites to RAP 13.4(b)(4) only once<sup>3</sup>, claiming that because this case involves a law enforcement officer's use of deadly force, it involves an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review. A careful examination of cases in which this Court has granted review because of an issue of substantial public interest demonstrates that this is <u>not</u> one such case.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: ... (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." This provision is cited as a basis for review only six times in Washington's reported and

to this Court. Because review is apparently not being sought for those claims, the City also does not address those claims in its Answer to the Petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See page 11 of Petition for Review.

unreported cases, and each of those times, the Court identified an issue that had the potential for broad public application. See In re Pers. Restraint of Williams, No. 99344-1, 2021 Wash. LEXIS 159, 2021 WL 1541532 (Wash., Feb. 3, 2021); Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 437 P.3d 677 (2019); In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo, No. 92616-6, 2016 Wash. LEXIS 814, 380 P.3d 413 (Wash., May 18, 2016); In re Adoption of T.AW., No. 92127-0, 2016 Wash. LEXIS 245, 387 P.3d 636 (Wash., Jan. 14, 2016); State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005); In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 740 P.2d 843 (1987).

For example, <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Williams</u> involved the question of whether continued confinement of a prisoner with poor health in a facility rampant with COVID was a violation of the prisoner's right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment, as guaranteed by the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution. This Court granted review, both on the grounds of

substantial constitutional questions and an issue of substantial public interest. With respect to the issue of substantial public interest, this Court reasoned as follows:

But the history of the pandemic indicates that the department became overwhelmed by the situation and is still struggling to get matters under control. The chaos wrought by COVID-19 at Coyote Ridge and other heavily affected correctional facilities, and the department's efforts in responding to this constantly changing threat, constitutes an ongoing issue of substantial public interest within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In re Pers. Restraint of Williams, No. 99344-1, 2021 Wash. LEXIS 159, at \*5-6. Thus, the issue raised by Mr. Williams in in personal restraint petition warranted review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the potential impact of the issue extended far beyond Mr. Williams' individual situation. The ongoing pandemic, which was ravaging correctional facilities across this state, raised significant constitutional issues for the thousands of incarcerated prisoners in Washington.

Similarly, in <u>State v. Watson</u>, this Court granted review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to consider whether a memorandum issued

by a Prosecuting Attorney ("the Horne memorandum") and disseminated to all Pierce County Superior Court judges, the Department of Assigned Counsel and the Department of Corrections was an improper ex parte communication with the court. Watson, 155 Wn.2d at 575. The memorandum was issued not in the context of any specific case, but to advise the various arms of the criminal justice process that the Pierce County Proscutor's Office would, as a matter of policy, no longer recommend drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA) sentences. Id. at 575-76. In a successful prosecution approximately a year later, the prosecuting attorney filed a sentencing brief and attached the Horne memorandum. Id. The Court of Appeals had held that the Horne memorandum was an improper ex parte communication, but was harmless as to that particular offender. Id. at 576. The state sought discretionary review by this Court of whether dissemination of the Horne memorandum was an improper ex parte communication. Id. at 577. This Court granted review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), stating

"[t]his case presents a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals holding, while affecting parties to this proceeding, also has the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 25, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue." Id. This Court reasoned that the Court of Appeals treatment of the Horne memorandum would "[invite] unnecessary litigation" and "[create] confusion generally." Id. "Further, the court's treatment of communications as ex parte in later proceedings has the potential to chill policy actions taken by both attorneys and judges—they may fear that their statements or actions in various public roles would later be treated as ex parte communications." Id. Thus, like the issue in In re Pers. Restraint of Williams, the issue on which the Watson Court granted review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) had the potential for broad and significant public impact, well beyond the participants to the single litigation matter in which the issue arose. Accord Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 437 P.3d 677 (2019) (review

granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) on issue of whether the superior court commissioner had inherent equitable authority to issue an ex parte order staying a writ of restitution in an unlawful detainer action); In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo, No. 92616-6, 2016 Wash. LEXIS 814, 380 P.3d 413 (Wash., May 18, 2016)(review granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) on issue of imposition of legal financial obligations (LFO) where issue had "the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts" and review would "avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue"); In re Adoption of T.AW., No. 92127-0, 2016 Wash. LEXIS 245, 387 P.3d 636 (Wash., Jan. 14, 2016)(review granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to address question of the scope and application of the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) to the termination of parental rights for non-Indian parents and the subsequent adoption of the Indian child by step-parent); In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 740 P.2d 843 (1987)(review granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to address issue of whether a custodial parent must repay the noncustodial parent for all payments made by the noncustodial parent pursuant to an invalid escalation clause in a child support order).

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